BYLAWS OF THE ECO VILLAGE HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION

ARTICLE 1 IDENTITY, DEFINITIONS

- A. <u>Property</u> Certain real property situated in the County of Pierce, State of Wisconsin, known commonly as the Eco Village Neighborhood.
- B. <u>Definitions</u> In these Bylaws, terms and phrases which are defined in the Declaration shall have the same meaning as is set forth in the Declaration, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.
- C. <u>Applicability</u> The provisions of these Bylaws are applicable to the property of the Eco Village Neighborhood and to the use, occupancy, enjoyment and operation thereof.
- D. Office The office of the Board of Directors of the Association shall be located at: 116 East Elm Street, River Falls, WI 54022.

ARTICLE 2 MEMBERSHIP

A. All Lot Owners shall be Members of the Association.

ARTICLE 3 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- A. <u>Number and Qualifications</u> The affairs of the Association shall be governed by a Board of Directors (the Board). The Board shall initially be composed of the Declarant. Board members must be Lot Owners.
- B. <u>Declarant Control</u> Declarant may appoint additional members to Board. Additional members of the Board shall be Lot Owners. So long as the Declarant owns one or more Lots, all Board action requires Declarant consent.
- C. Powers and Duties The Board shall have the powers and shall diligently exercise the duties necessary for the prudent administration of the affairs of the Association and may do all such acts and things except as by law or by the Declaration or by these Bylaws may not be delegated to the Lot Owners. Such powers and duties of the Board shall include, but shall not be limited to the following:
 - (1) Adopt and amend Rules and Regulations, provided, however, so long as Declarant shall own one or more Lots, Rules and Regulations may be adopted or amended only with the prior consent of Declarant;
 - (2) Adopt and amend budgets for revenues, expenditures and reserves, and levy and collect assessments for Common Expenses from Lot Owners;
 - (3) Hire and terminate a managing agent and other employees, agents, and independent

contractors;

- (4) Institute, defend, or intervene in litigation or administrative proceedings on behalf of the Association;
- (5) Regulate and provide for the use, maintenance, repair, replacement, modification and protection of Common Elements;
- (6) Cause improvements to be made as a part of the Common Areas;
- (7) Open bank accounts on behalf of the Association and designate the signatories required thereof;
- (8) Impose reasonable charges including reasonable costs and attorney's fees, for the evaluation, preparation and recordation of amendments to the Declaration, certificates required by the Act, and statements of unpaid assessments;
- (9) Provide for and maintain directors' and officers' liability insurance, if required;
- (10) Impose charges for late payment of assessments and, after reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard, levy reasonable fines and penalties upon Lot Owners and Occupants for violations of the Declaration, Bylaws and Rules and Regulations of the Association;
- (11) Purchase or lease or otherwise acquire in the name of the Association, or its designee, corporate or otherwise, on behalf of all Lot Owners, Lots offered for sale or lease or surrendered by their Owners to the Association;
- (12) Purchase Lots at foreclosure or other judicial sales in the name of the Association, or its designee, corporate or otherwise, on behalf of all Lot Owners;
- (13) Sell, lease, mortgage, or otherwise deal with Lots acquired by, and sublease Lots leased by the Association or its designee, corporate or otherwise, on behalf of all Lot Owners;
- Organize corporations to act as designee of the Association in acquiring title to or leasing of Lots on behalf of all Lot Owners;
- (15) Obtain insurance for the property;
- (16) Prepare and distribute the annual report to the Lot Owners;
- (17) Grant easements through or over the Common Areas;

- (18) Pay Common Expenses of the Lots; and
- (19) Exercise any other powers conferred from time to time by state law, the Declaration or these Bylaws.
- D. <u>Election and Term of Office</u> At the first annual meeting of the Association following the expiration of Declarant control of the Board as set forth in Article 3(B) of these Bylaws, the term of office of all officers and Directors of the Association shall terminate and an election of Directors shall take place. There shall be three Directors. The initial term of office of one elected Director shall be fixed at three years, the initial term of office of one elected Director shall be fixed at two years, and the remaining Director shall serve an initial term of one year. Prior to such first annual meeting, the Board shall determine the manner in which the one, two and three year terms shall be assigned to the three newly elected Directors and the manner in which the Board members will be elected (voting procedure). At the expiration of the said initial terms of office of each respective member of the Board, a successor shall be elected to serve for a term of three years. The members of the Board shall hold office until their respective successors shall have been elected by the Lot Owners at an annual meeting of the Lot Owners or they are otherwise removed under these Bylaws.
- E. Removal of Directors At any annual or special meeting of Lot Owners, any one or more of the members of the Board (except the Declarant) may be removed with or without cause by a majority vote of the Lot Owners and a successor may then and there or thereafter be elected to fill the vacancy thus created. Any member of the Board whose removal has been proposed by the Lot Owners shall be given an opportunity to be heard at the meeting.
- F. <u>Vacancies</u> Vacancies in the Board caused by any reason other than the removal of a member thereof by a vote of the Lot Owners, shall be filled by the remaining members of the Board at a special meeting of the Board held for that purpose with due notice promptly after the occurrence of any such vacancy, and each person so elected shall be a member of the Board for the remainder of the term of the member so vacating and until a successor shall be elected at an annual meeting of the Lot Owners.
- G. Organizational Meeting An organizational meeting of the members of the Board shall be held promptly following the first annual meeting of the Lot Owners and promptly following each annual meeting thereafter, and no notice shall be necessary to the newly elected members of the Board in order legally to constitute such a meeting, provided a majority of the entire Board shall be present thereat.
- H. Regular Meetings Regular meetings of the Board may be held at such time and place as shall be determined from time to time by a majority of the members of the Board, but at least one such meeting shall be held during each fiscal year promptly following the annual meeting of the Lot Owners.
- I. Special Meetings Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President or Secretary on

three business days written notice to each member of the Board, which notice shall state the time, place and purpose of the meeting. Special meetings of the Board also shall be called by the President or Secretary in like manner and on like notice upon the written request of any member of the Board.

- J. Waiver of Notice Any member of the Board may, at any time waive notice of any meeting of the Board in writing, and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Attendance by a member of the Board at any meeting of the Board shall constitute a waiver of notice by him of the time and place thereof. If all the members of the Board are present at any meeting of the Board, no notice shall be required and any business may be transacted at such meeting, subject however to the provisions of Article 3 (K) of these Bylaws.
- K. Notice to Declarant Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, so long as the Declarant shall own one or more Lots, Declarant shall receive notice of all meetings of the Board, and Declarant or its representative shall be entitled to attend and reasonably to be heard at all meetings of the Board.
- L. Quorum At all meetings of the Board, a majority (i.e. two) of the members thereof shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the vote of a majority of the members of the Board shall constitute the decision or action of the Board.
- M. <u>Fidelity Bonds</u> The Board may obtain adequate fidelity bonds for all officers and employees of the Association handling or responsible for Association funds. The premiums on such bonds shall constitute a Common Expense.
- N. <u>Compensation</u> Members of the Board are not entitled to compensation from the Association for acting as such.
- O. <u>Liability of Directors and Officers</u> The members of the Board of Directors and Officers of the Association shall not be liable to the Lot Owners for any mistake of judgment, negligence or otherwise, except for their own individual willful misconduct or bad faith. The Association shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the members of the Board and Officers against all contractual liability to others arising out of contracts made by the Board and Officers on behalf of the Association, unless any such contract shall have been made in bad faith or contrary to the provisions of the Declaration, these Bylaws, the Act, or a valid resolution of the Board. No member of the Board or Officers shall have any personal liability with respect to any contract made by the Board and Officers on behalf of the Association.
- P. <u>Executive Committee</u> There may be an Executive Committee consisting of two persons who are Officers or Directors of the Association and which shall be from time to time designated by the Board. To the extent determined by the Board, the Executive Committee has the authority of the Board in the management of the business of the Association, provided, however, the Executive Committee must act unanimously. The Executive Committee shall act only in the interval between meetings of the Board and at all times shall be subject to the control and direction of the Board.

ARTICLE 4 LOT OWNERS' MEETING AND VOTING

- A. Annual Meeting The Lot Owners shall meet at least one each year within 90 days after the close of the Association's fiscal year (the "annual meeting"). The annual meeting of the Lot Owners shall be held at the office of the Association, or such other location as the Board shall reasonably determine. At the first annual meeting of the Lot Owners following the expiration of Declarant control as set forth in Article 3 (B) of these Bylaws, the Lot Owners shall elect three members of the Board for terms to expire with the second, third and fourth annual meetings of the Lot Owners, in accordance with Article 3 (D) of these Bylaws. At each annual meeting thereafter the Lot Owners shall elect a Director to fill the term then expiring. The Lot Owners may transfer such other business at such meetings as may properly come before them.
- B. Special Meetings It shall be the duty of the President to call a special meeting of the Lot Owners if so directed by resolution of the Board or upon a petition signed and presented to the Secretary by Lot Owners having in the aggregate 25% or more of the total votes in the Association. The notice of any special meeting shall state the time and place of such meeting and the purpose thereof. No other business shall be transacted at a special meeting except as stated in the notice.
- C. Notice of Meetings It shall be the duty of the Secretary to give by delivery or by regular first class mail (by United States mail postage prepaid) written notice of each annual or special meeting of the Lot Owners, at least 21 days in advance of each annual meeting and at least seven days in advance of any special meeting, stating the purpose thereof as well as the time and place where it is to be held and a complete agenda of the meeting, to each Lot Owner of record, at the address of their respective Lots and to such other addresses as any Lot Owner shall have designated by notice in writing to the Secretary. Such notice shall be effective upon such delivery or upon such deposit in the mail.
- D. <u>Order of Business</u> The order of business at all annual meetings of the Lot Owners may be as follows subject to the determination of the Board:
 - (1) Roll call.
 - (2) Proof of notice of meeting.
 - (3) Reading of minutes of preceding meeting.
 - (4) Reports of officers.
 - (5) Report of Board of Directors.
 - (6) Reports of any committees.
 - (7) Election of members of the Board of Directors.
 - (8) Unfinished business.
 - (9) New business.
- E. <u>Voting and Proxies</u> The Lot Owner of each Lot (including Declarant), or some person designated by such Lot Owner to act as proxy on such Lot Owner's behalf and who need not be a

Lot Owner, shall be entitled to case the vote allocated to such Lot in the Declaration, at all meetings of Lot Owners. The designation of any such proxy shall be made in writing to the Secretary, and shall be revocable at any time by written notice to the Secretary by the Lot Owner so designating. The vote allocated to a Lot shall not be split or otherwise cast separately by the several Lot Owners of a Lot. The vote for a Lot which has several Lot Owners shall be cast by the individual named in a certificate signed by all the Lot Owners of the Lot and filed with the Secretary of the Association; such certificate shall be valid until revoked by a subsequent certificate; any dispute between or among several Lot Owners of a Lot regarding the execution of said certificate or who is the individual to cast the vote allocated to the Lot, shall be decided by the Board. No vote in the Association shall be deemed to insure to any Lot (i) during the time when the Lot Owner is the Association or its designee, or (ii) during such time as the Association has recorded a statement of condominium lien on the Lot and the amount necessary to release the lien has not been paid at the time of the meeting, or (iii) during such time as a Lot Owner has failed to furnish to the Association his or her name and current mailing address for the Roster of Lot Owners as required by the Act.

- F. Quorum Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the presence in person or by proxy of Lot Owners having, in the aggregate, 50% or more of the total votes entitled to be cast at the meeting shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of Lot Owners. The vote of a majority of the total votes of all Lot Owners present in person or by proxy and voting any meeting of the Lot Owners at which a quorum shall be present, shall be binding upon all Lot Owners for all purposes except where in the Declaration or these Bylaws or by law, a higher percentage vote is required.
- G. <u>Annual Report</u> An annual report of the Association shall be made in writing to the Lot Owners of each Lot, containing at a minimum, the following:
 - (1) A statement of any capital expenditures in excess of 2% of the current budget or \$1,000.00 whichever is greater, anticipated by the Association during the current year or succeeding two fiscal years;
 - (2) A statement of the status and amount of the reserve or replacement fund and any portion of the fund designated for any specified project by the Board;
 - (3) A copy of a statement of financial condition for the Association for the last fiscal year;
 - (4) A statement of the status of any pending suits or judgments to which the Association is a party;
 - (5) A statement of the insurance coverage provided by the Association;
 - (6) A statement of any unpaid assessments by the Association on individual Lots identifying the Lot number and the amount of the unpaid assessment; and

ARTICLE 5 OFFICERS

- A. <u>Designation</u> The principal officers of the Association shall be the President, the Vice President, the Secretary, and the Treasurer, all of whom shall be: elected by the Board, Board members and Lot Owners. One person may hold more than one office, except the office of President and Vice President may not be held by the same person, and the President may not also be Secretary.
- B. <u>Election of Officers</u> The officers of the Association shall be elected annually by the Board at the organizational meeting of each new Board and shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board.
- C. <u>Removal of Officers</u> Upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Board, any officer may be removed, either with or without cause, and their successor may be elected at any regular meeting of the Board, or at any special meeting of the Board called for such purpose.
- D. President The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association and shall preside at all meetings of the Lot Owners and the Board. The President shall have all of the general powers and duties which are incident to the office of President of a corporation organized under Wisconsin Statutes Chapter 181, including but not limited to the power to appoint committees from among the Lot Owners from time to time as in the President's discretion is appropriate to assist in the conduct of the affairs of the Association.
- E. <u>Vice President</u> The Vice President shall, in the absence of the President, preside at meetings of the Lot Owners and the Board, shall perform such other duties as the Board may direct, and shall in general perform all of the duties incident to the office of Vice President of a corporation organized under Chapter 181, Wisconsin Statutes.
- F. <u>Secretary</u> The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the Lot Owners and the Board, shall count the votes at meetings of Lot Owners, shall maintain the Lot Owner Roster, shall have charge of such books and papers as the Board may direct, and shall, in general, perform all the duties incident to the office of Secretary of a corporation organized under Chapter 181, Wisconsin Statutes.
- G. <u>Treasurer</u> The Treasurer shall have custody of all funds, property and securities of the Association subject to such regulations as may be imposed by the Board, and shall, in general, perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer of a corporation organized under Chapter 181, Wisconsin Statutes.
- H. <u>Agreements, Contracts, Deeds, Checks, Etc.</u> All agreements, contracts, deeds, leases, checks, mortgages, and other instruments of the Association shall be executed by any two officers of the Association or by such other person or persons as may be designated by the Board.
- I. <u>Compensation of Officers</u> Officers shall not receive compensation for their service as officers from the Association.

ARTICLE 6 OPERATION OF THE CONDOMINIUM

- A. Budget; Levy The Board shall from time to time, and at least annually, prepare a budget of Common Expenses for the Association and assess and levy such Common Expenses among the Lots according to their respective Common Expense Liability allocated among the Lots by the Declaration. The levy shall be deemed to occur upon the date of the resolution by which the Board adopts such budget. The Board shall fix the amount of the annual assessment against each Lot and shall promptly advise each Lot Owner in writing as to the amount of the assessment payable with respect to the Lot. In addition, the Association shall furnish copies of each budget on which such Common Expenses and the assessments are based to each Lot Owner and to any holder of a first mortgage on a Lot which requests the same. In the event an annual assessment proves to be insufficient, the budget and assessments therefore may be amended, or a special assessment levied, by the Board.
- B. Payment of Common Expenses All Lot Owners shall be obligated to pay the Common Expenses assessed and levied upon their Lot by the Board pursuant to this Article. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, such assessment shall be due in monthly installments in advance on the first day of each month of the year or other period for which the assessments are made, or when designated by the Board in the case of a special assessment.
- C. <u>Liability for Assessments</u> A Lot Owner shall be liable for all assessments, or installments thereof, coming due while owning a Lot. In a voluntary grant, the grantee shall be jointly and severally liable with the grantor for all unpaid assessments against the grantor for his or her share of the Common Expenses up to the time of the voluntary grant for which a statement of condominium lien is recorded, without prejudice to the rights of the grantee to recover from the grantor the amounts paid by the grantee for such assessments. Liability for assessments may not be avoided by waiver of the use or enjoyment for any Common Element or by abandonment of the Lot for which the assessments are made.
- D. <u>Assessments Constitute Liens</u> All assessments, until paid, together with interest on them and actual costs of collection, constitute a lien on the Lots on which they are assessed under Chapter 779, Wisconsin Statutes. The lien is effective against a Lot at the time the assessment became due regardless of when filed. A statement of condominium lien is filed in the land records of the Clerk of Court of Pierce County, stating the description of the Lot, the name of the record owner, the amount due and the period for which the assessment was due. The statement of condominium lien shall be signed and verified by any officer of the Association and then may be filed. On full payment of the assessment for which the lien is claimed, the Lot Owner shall be entitled to a fileable satisfaction of the lien.
- E. <u>Statement</u> Any grantee of a Lot is entitled to a statement from the Association or the Board setting forth the amount of unpaid assessments against the grantor and the grantee is not liable for, nor shall the Lot conveyed by subject to a lien which is not filed under subarticle D above for, any unpaid assessment against the grantor in excess of the amount set forth in the statement. If the Association or Board does not provide such a statement within 10 business days after the

- grantee's request, it shall be barred from claiming under any lien which is not filed under subarticle D above prior to the request for the statement against the grantee.
- F. <u>Priority of Lien</u> All sums assessed by the Association but unpaid for the share of the Common Expenses chargeable to any Lot constitutes a lien on the Lot and on the undivided interest in the Common Elements appurtenant thereto prior to all other liens except:
 - (1) Liens of general and special taxes;
 - (2) All sums unpaid on a first mortgage recorded prior to the making of the assessment;
 - (3) Mechanic's liens filed prior to the making of the assessment;
 - (4) All sums unpaid on any mortgage loan made under §45.80 of the Wisconsin Statutes.
- G. Default in Payment of Common Expenses In the event a Lot Owner does not make payment on or before the date when any assessment or installment thereof is due, the Board may assess, and such Lot Owner shall be obligated to pay, a reasonable administrative charge for each such unpaid assessment or installment thereof, and interest at the highest rate allowed by law on such assessment or installment thereof from the date due, together with all expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees incurred by the Board in any proceeding brought to collect any such unpaid assessment. In the event of a default of more than 30 days in payment of any assessment or installment thereof, the Board may accelerate the remaining installments of the assessment upon notice thereof to the Lot Owner, and thereupon the entire unpaid balance of the assessment with all accrued interest shall become due and payable upon the date stated in the notice. The Board shall have the right and duty to attempt to recover all assessments for Common Expenses, together with interest and the expenses of the proceeding, including reasonable attorney's fees, in any action to recover the same brought against a Lot Owner or by foreclosure of the lien upon the Lot.
- H. Enforcement of Lien A lien may be enforced and foreclosed by the Association in the same manner, and subject to the same requirements, as a foreclosure of mortgages on real property in Wisconsin. The Association may recover costs and actual attorney's fees. The Association may bid on the Lot at foreclosure sale and acquire, hold, lease, mortgage and convey the Lot. Suit to recover a money judgment for unpaid Common Expenses shall be maintainable without foreclosing or waiving the lien securing the same. Suit for any deficiency following foreclosure may be maintained in the same proceeding
- I. Records The Board shall cause to be kept at the registered office of the Association, and at such other place as the Board may determine, records of the actions of the Board, minutes of the meetings of the Board, minutes of the meetings of the Lot Owners, Roster of the Lot Owners, and detailed and accurate records, in chronological order, of the receipts and expenditures of the Association. Such records of receipts and expenditures and any vouchers authorizing payments shall be available for examination by the Lot Owners, and the First Mortgagees of the Lots, upon reasonable notice during normal business hours. Separate accounts shall be maintained for each

- Lot setting forth the amount of the assessments against the Lot, the date when due, amount paid thereon and the balance remaining unpaid.
- J. <u>Enforcement of Obligations</u> All Lot Owners, household members, tenants and guests are obligated and bound to observe the applicable provisions of the Declaration, the Act, the Master Declaration, Rules and Regulations, and these Bylaws. Failure to comply with the aforementioned documents will give rise to fines, penalties and a cause of action by the Association or any Lot Owner for the recovery of damages, injunctive relief, or any or all of the above.

ARTICLE 7 MISCELLANEOUS

- A. Notices Unless specifically provided or permitted otherwise in the Act, the Declaration or these Bylaws, all notices required hereunder shall be delivered or sent by registered or certified mail. Notices to the Association shall be addressed to and delivered or mailed to "Eco Village Homeowners' Association, Inc." at the post office address of the Association or to such other address as the Board may hereafter designate from time to time by written notice. Notices to a Lot Owner shall be addressed to and delivered or mailed to such Owner's address in the condominium or to such other address as may have been designated by such owner in writing to the Association. All notices to mortgagees of Lots shall be sent by regular first class United States mail to their respective addresses as designated by them from time to time in writing to the Association. All notices shall be deemed to have been given when delivered or when deposited in the United States mail, postage paid, except notices of changes of address, which shall be deemed to have been given when received.
- B. <u>Invalidity</u> The invalidity of any part of these Bylaws shall not impair or affect in any manner the validity or enforceability of other parts of these Bylaws which can be given effect without the invalid part.
- C. <u>Captions</u> The captions herein are inserted only for reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of these Bylaws, or the meaning of any provisions hereof.
- D. <u>Gender</u> The use of any gender in these Bylaws shall be deemed to include the masculine, feminine and neuter gender and the use of the singular shall be deemed to include the plural, whenever the context so requires.
- E. <u>Waiver</u> No restriction, condition, obligation or provision contained in these Bylaws shall be deemed to have been abrogated or waived by reason of any failure to enforce the same, irrespective of the number of violations or breaches thereof which may occur.
- F. <u>Conflicts</u> In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between or among the mandatory provisions of the Declaration, these Bylaws and any Rules and Regulations adopted by the Association, the Declaration shall control; and as between the Bylaws and any Rules and Regulations, these Bylaws shall control.

- G. <u>Fiscal Year</u> The fiscal year of the Association shall be as determined from time to time by the Board.
- H. <u>Seal</u> The Association shall not have a corporate seal.

ARTICLE 8 AMENDMENTS

A. These Bylaws may be amended only by the affirmative vote or consent of the Lot Owners holding 67% or more of the votes in the Association.

President, Ecovillage Homeowners Inc.

Secretary, Ecovillage Homeowners Inc.

THIS DOCUMENT DRAFTED BY:
MAXFIELD E. NEUHAUS, ATTORNEY
RODLI, BESKAR, KRUEGER & PLETCHER, S.C.
PO BOX 138
RIVER FALLS, WI 54022
715-425-7281